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OUR VISION
The Valley will be the best night racing venue  
in the world.

OUR MISSION
The Valley is the premier night racing venue in 
Australia, staging high quality thoroughbred racing. 
We are the home of the W.S. Cox Plate, the Weight-
For-Age Championship of Australasia. 

We deliver exceptional experiences to all of our 
customers, our members, industry stakeholders and 
clients through our racing and non-raceday events.

We are a focal point within our community, making 
a significant economic contribution. We engage 
with local community and charity groups, striving to 
improve the quality of life in our local area. Through 
the redevelopment of The Valley Racecourse, we are 
creating a vibrant residential and commercial precinct 
that will be an enjoyable place to live and work.

OUR VALUES
Respect 
Accountability 
Community 
Experience 
Safety First
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
It is with great pleasure that I present the Annual 
Report for the 2017/18 season. 

The Moonee Valley Racing Club has a long and proud 
history, dating back to 1883 when our great Club was 
formed. Over the past 134 years, there have been many 
outstanding achievements and highlights at Moonee 
Valley, all of which have shaped our Club into one of the 
leading thoroughbred racing clubs in the world. 

Whenever future generations look back at the history 
of the MVRC, 2017/18 will be regarded as a defining 
year. The win by Winx in the 2017 Ladbrokes Cox Plate 
delivered one of the greatest racing achievements we 
have seen in Australian racing, matching the heroic 
deeds of the mighty Kingston Town (1980 – 82) in 
becoming only the second three-time winner of the 
W.S. Cox Plate. 

Winx arrived at The Valley on Saturday 28 October 
2017 with a winning sequence that had stretched to 
21, and she was sent out the shortest-priced Cox Plate 
favourite ($1.16) since Phar Lap in 1931 when he faced 
the starter at 1/14f.  After a dominant 6.5 length win in 
the Group 1 Turnbull Stakes at Flemington three weeks 
prior to the Cox Plate, many thought that the Cox Plate 
would be a procession.  

When jockey Hugh Bowman urged Winx past the 
leaders approaching the home corner, the sell-out 
crowd of 32,617 expected her to shoot clear and win 
with a comfortable margin. But Humidor, with Blake 
Shinn tracking Winx’s every move, sent shockwaves 
around The Valley as he surged alongside Bowman 
and for a fleeting second looked likely to cause an 
upset. Under vigorous riding, Winx was able to hold 
the Humidor challenge at bay, and the stands erupted 
as she crossed the finishing line with a neck to spare, 
securing her place in racing folklore as a true Legend 
of the Cox Plate. 

The post-race celebration as Winx returned to the 
thunderous applause from the packaged grandstand 
and lawn would match any of the greatest days The 
Valley has seen. As Bowman presented Winx to the 
adoring crowd, trainer Chris Waller celebrated his 
tremendous training achievement to realise his 
long-term goal of winning three Cox Plates with his 
champion mare. Waller had carefully plotted her career 
for almost four years to see her reach the pinnacle 
of world racing, and incredibly maintain her winning 
sequence for 22 races. 

After 35 years, the W.S. Cox Plate had our Queen to 
sit alongside our King! Winx joined Kingston Town as 
a three-time W.S. Cox Plate champion, and in victory, 
cemented her place as one of the greatest racehorses 
Australia has seen. 

There was little thought given to a possible Winx 
return to The Valley after her triumph, with discussion 
centering around a possible international campaign 
that would see her at Royal Ascot in June. Connections 
were courted from all around the world after the 2017 
Cox Plate to travel Winx, however, the decision was 
made late March that she would remain in Australia and 
continue to race on through the 2018 Spring Carnival. 

With Winx continuing her winning run through the 
Sydney Autumn Carnival, and the early part of the 2018 
Spring, plans are in place for her to defend her crown 
and aim for an unprecedented 4th W.S. Cox Plate.  
If all goes to plan and Winx contests the 98th edition  
of the W.S. Cox Plate, I dare say that The Valley will 
have never experienced an atmosphere like that which 
we will experience on October 27 2018.  

The eyes of the racing world will be on Winx as she 
attempts to create history in becoming the first horse 
to win the Australian Weight-for-Age championship a 
record 4th time. The W.S. Cox Plate is billed as ‘The 
Race Where Legends Are Made’, and this will certainly 
be true if Winx is successful. She will sit atop all of the 
legends we have had win the W.S. Cox Plate since its 
inaugural running in 1922.  

I congratulate the connections of Winx on her 
incredible achievements. Trainer Chris Waller has 
managed Winx’s racing schedule perfectly, ensuring 
that she has maintained her zest for racing and is 
in peak condition each and every time she steps out 
onto the track. Jockey Hugh Bowman has built up an 
incredible partnership with Winx, riding her in 20 of her 
22 wins since the winning sequence commenced in 
May 2015. 

The owners of Winx have been fantastic ambassadors 
for racing and great supporters of The Valley. 

A special thank you to Peter and Patty Tighe and 
Debbie and Paul Kepitis for sharing their experience of 
owning Winx with all racing fans and allowing us all to 
feel a special connection with their champion.  

I LOOK FORWARD TO SEEING OUR 
MEMBERS ON-COURSE THROUGH  

THE 2018/19 SEASON, PARTICULARLY 
THE 2018 LADBROKES COX PLATE 

CARNIVAL.
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Since launching the two-day Cox Plate Carnival in 
2012, we have seen the event grow and evolve into a 
highly successful event. The 2017 Ladbrokes Cox Plate 
Carnival saw 44,422 attend, with Manikato Stakes Night 
setting a new record of 11,805. The Group 1 Ladbrokes 
Manikato Stakes was won in great style by Hey Doc for 
trainer Tony McEvoy and jockey Luke Currie. This was 
a masterful training performance to win our feature 
sprint after Hey Doc contested the 1600m Makybe Diva 
Stakes only six weeks earlier.  

Season 21 of Night Racing was launched on Grand 
Final Eve, and we saw an incredible win in the Group 1 
Charter Keck Cramer Moir Stakes by She Will Reign.  
The 3yo filly had won the Golden Slipper in March, and 
her first up win in open company at Weight-for-Age 
was one of the best performances we saw through 
the 2017/18 season. Congratulations to trainer Gary 
Portelli, jockey Kerrin McEvoy and the Darby Racing 
syndicate.  

The Club welcomed Ladbrokes at the start of the 
2017/18 season as our Principal Partner. Ladbrokes 
committed to the MVRC for a record term of 8 years 
and will be a driving force behind the Cox Plate 
Carnival, our night racing product and the 55 Second 
Challenge. I thank Ladbrokes Chief Executive Jason 
Scott and his team for their support of racing at The 
Valley and look forward to an exciting partnership over 
the years to come.  

The W.S. Cox Plate is the centrepiece of racing at 
Moonee Valley. It is our signature race, and as we move 
towards Cox Pate 100 in 2020, we have been focused 
on lifting prizemoney above $3m which had stagnated 
since 2001. I was pleased to announce in June that the 
Cox Plate prizemoney would increase to $5m in 2018.  
This was achieved with the support of Racing Victoria, 
Ladbrokes and a contribution from the Club. 

Elevating prizemoney to $5m now sees the Cox 
Plate as the richest turf race over 2000 metres in the 
world, and the richest Group 1 weight-for-age race 
in Australia. It is our ambition to continue to grow the 
international profile and participation in the Cox Plate, 
and securing this prizemoney increase is a critical first 
step in achieving this. 

Last November, the Club announced that it had 
entered into a Development Agreement with leading 
superannuation fund HOSTPLUS and developer 
Hamton to realise our vision for the redevelopment of 
the Moonee Valley Racecourse through our exciting 
Master Plan project. 

After a competitive bid process throughout 2017, the 
HOSTPLUS and Hamton consortium were selected 
based on their vision for the nine hectares of land 
that is to be developed as part of the Moonee Valley 
Racecourse redevelopment. The Consortium shared 
the MVRC’s vision to create a world-class residential, 
retail, commercial and lifestyle community to 
complement the new state-of-the-art racecourse that 
will be built.  

Over the next 10 – 12 years, we will see 2,000 
apartments and townhouses built through the western 
and north-eastern corner of the current Moonee Valley 
Racecourse. The Development Agreement that the 
Club has entered into will see profits from this re-
development invested into a new re-aligned racecourse 
that will have the home straight running east to west 
and a new state-of-the-art multi-purpose grandstand 
built on our northern boundary adjacent to Legends 
gaming venue.  

The project will also see the Club develop the 
racecourse infield for a diverse range of active and 
passive recreational activities for residents, club 
members and the local community.  

Once the Club had entered into the Development 
Agreement, we commenced a process to select an 
architect to design our new Grandstand.  

C O X  P L A T E  C A R N I V A L

A T T E N D A N C E
44,422

A T T E N D A N C E

M A N I K A T O  S T A K E S

11,805

WITH WINX ON TRACK TO RETURN AND 
DEFEND HER CROWN, IT WILL BE A 

VERY SPECIAL OCCASION  
FOR THE CLUB.
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A shortlist of four world leading architects that are 
highly experienced in sporting stadiums were selected 
to prepare designs for our new grandstand.  

After assessing the high-quality submissions from 
these architects, the Club selected Cox Architects 
as our partner to design a new, iconic Moonee Valley 
racecourse grandstand. 

Cox presented a spectacular, modern interpretation of 
what our new grandstand could be, and we are excited 
to see these plans continue to progress through this 
planning phase.  

I thank the Master Plan Sub-Committee, and in particular 
its Chairman David Kobritz on the time that they have 
committed to this project which has seen the Club secure 
high calibre partners in HOSTPLUS and Hamton. I have 
every confidence that this Consortium will deliver an 
outstanding result through the redevelopment of the 
Moonee Valley racecourse precinct. 

Linked to this project is the redevelopment of the 
Secretary’s Residence to a new Childcare facility.  
The Club has signed a long-term lease agreement 
with respected childcare operator Think Ltd to convert 
this residence into a facility for 90 children. Work has 
recently commenced on this project, and we aim to have 
it operational by mid-2019.  

The Club continues to look at investment opportunities 
to diversify our revenue generating activities to support 
our core activity of racing. With the push from the AFL 
for their clubs to divest gaming operations, we evaluated 
a number of opportunities throughout the year. We were 
successful in acquiring the Leighoak Club from the 
Melbourne Football Club, and we took control of this 
venue on July 31 this year. This now increases the Club’s 
investments in gaming to three venues – Legends,  
The Junction Club and the Leighoak Club.  

The Club farewelled Vice Chairman Brian Kruger last 
August when he retired from the MVRC Committee to 
take on the role of Chairman of Racing Victoria. I thank 
Brian for his significant contribution to the MVRC in 
the 11 years he served on the Committee. Brian held 
the offices of Treasurer and Vice Chairman as well 
as Chair of our Master Plan Sub-Committee through 
the important project tender process. I have every 
confidence that Brian will successfully lead Racing 
Victoria through this challenging period for the Victorian 
Racing Industry. 

We recently welcomed Jim Hogan to the MVRC 
Committee. Jim has a lifelong passion for racing and 
the Club and he brings a wealth of knowledge and a 
financial and hospitality skillset to the Committee, which 
will be beneficial as the Club grows our hospitality and 
gaming operations.  

ANNUAL REPORT   7



The MVRC continues to enjoy strong relationships 
with our sister metropolitan clubs and Country Racing 
Victoria. At the end of the 2017/18 season, MRC 
Chairman Mike Symons retired from the Committee.  
Mike has been a wonderful racing administrator, leading 
the MRC through a period of transformation and growth.  
He has been a great friend of Moonee Valley, and I was 
honoured to award Mike Honorary Membership for 
Life of our Club on his retirement. I look forward to the 
strong relationship between our two clubs continuing 
with incoming Chairman Peter Le Grand. 

I congratulate the VRC on their new Members’ 
Grandstand. Chairman Amanda Elliott and her Board 
have been bold in delivering their vision for the new 
Flemington grandstand and I look forward to seeing it 
unveiled for the 2018 Melbourne Cup Carnival.

I thank The Hon. Martin Pakula, Attorney General and 
Victorian Minister for Racing for his continued support 
of the Moonee Valley Racing Club. Martin has a deep 
passion for racing, and his commitment to the Victorian 
Racing Industry has us well placed to continue to grow 
and prosper into the future.  

The Committee of the MVRC continues to focus on 
building a strong and successful Club for the benefit of 
our Members, racing industry participants and the local 
community. We are entering an exciting phase in the 
history of our great Club, as we move into this transition 

period through the Master Plan project. The planning 
that is being invested in the new Moonee Valley and 
our future business model will give our Members every 
confidence that our Club has a bright future ahead. 
I thank the Committee and staff for their continued 
commitment to our Club. 

I thank our Members for your continued support of  
our Club and of your Committee. We look forward 
to working closely with our valued members as we 
continue to shape your Club into the future.  

I look forward to seeing our members on-course 
through the 2018/19 season, particularly the 2018 
Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival. With Winx on track to 
return and defend her crown, it will be a very special 
occasion for the Club.

Regards,

 

Don Casboult 
Chairman
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WHERE  
RACING IS AT  

OUR CORE



MVRC EXECUTIVES

Michael Browell
Chief Executive Officer

Liam Smith
General Manager -  
Racing Operations

Bruce Clarke
General Manager - 
Corporate Services

Luke Kinniburgh
General Manager -  

Hospitality

David Sinclair
Head of Development

Ashley O’Brien
General Manager -  

Gaming

Blair Crouch
General Manager - 

Marketing & Commercial
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CEO REPORT

2017 COX PLATE CARNIVAL
A Cox Plate Carnival record of 44,422 patrons walked 
through the turnstiles across the 2017 Ladbrokes Cox 
Plate Carnival and each and every one of them would 
have had a story to tell.

A sell-out crowd of 32,617 enjoyed glorious weather on 
Ladbrokes Cox Plate Day to watch wonder horse Winx 
win a record equalling third W.S. Cox Plate at The Valley 
and take her place in history alongside Kingston Town. 

The crowd was around 6,500 up on 2016 and was the 
biggest Cox Plate Day attendance since 34,072 people 
watched Maldivian win the 2008 edition of the race.

The champion mare broke her own track record and 
stamped herself as an immortal.

The build-up, the anticipation, the excitement – it was 
all there in the lead-up to the 97th running of the race, 
however, as the field turned for home, the race took an 
unexpected twist.  

Many pundits thought Winx would win running away 
with it, with time for jockey Hugh Bowman to soak up 
the adulation of the crowd before reaching the finishing 
post. But somebody forget to tell Darren Weir’s 
Humidor and hearts were in mouths with 100 metres 
to go. 

Despite the best efforts of jockey Blake Shinn, who 
rode a staggering four winners on the card, Winx was 
never headed and Hugh Bowman punched the air to 
the roars of the crowd. Blue streamers cascaded from 
the grandstand façade and The Script’s ‘Hall of Fame’ 
played loudly across the course.

The reception the wonder mare received from The 
Valley’s sold-out crowd when returning back up the 
home straight is something that many will remember 
for a lifetime. Bowman then threw his skull cap into the 
crowd to one unsuspecting but extremely lucky punter, 
providing another moment to savour.

The result topped off one of the biggest days the  
Club has ever witnessed, with a sea of royal blue and  
white mixed into the crowd with the Ladbrokes red.  
Daryl Braithwaite was again on hand to sing his 
anthemic ‘The Horses’, drowned out often by his 
adoring fans who can’t seem to get enough of the song.

The Winx effect also took hold of the Club’s commercial 
results, with a huge increase of 29% on corporate, 
marquee and enclosure bookings for Ladbrokes Cox 
Plate Day, to the point where it sold out on the Tuesday 
of Cox Plate week. The Club also saw a massive 61% 
increase on the same bookings (corporate, marquee 
and enclosures) for Ladbrokes Manikato Stakes Night. 
The dining result of +2% on Ladbrokes Cox Plate Day 
is only minimal due to the event dining footprint being 
near capacity most years.

While Saturday was a day to remember, Friday night’s 
Group 1 Ladbrokes Manikato Stakes meeting had just 
as much excitement and drama.

A beautiful Melbourne spring evening saw the crowds 
flock to The Valley, with a record for the meeting of 
11,805 people turning up to kick-off the unique two-day 
Carnival.

Craig Williams had a night to remember riding a treble 
and was on the highly-fancied Vega Magic in the Group 
1 feature. High drama ensued before the jump of the 
race when 2015 winner and cult-favourite Chautauqua 
and the Gai Waterhouse and Adrian Bott trained 
English were vetted. Unfortunately, it was ‘The Thunder 
from Down Under’ who was scratched to the groans of 
the crowd.

The drama didn’t end there. The Tony McEvoy trained 
Hey Doc kicked clear on the home turn to take out 
the race, but not without a protest from the second 
placed In Her Time after jockey Corey Brown claimed 
interference at the 1000 metre mark.

It was a huge training performance by McEvoy. Hey Doc 
was back in distance after a disappointing performance 
in the Group 1 Makybe Diva Stakes and had galloped very 
well at the Breakfast with the Best on Tuesday morning. 
Whispers has swept the course about how well the 4YO 
gelding was travelling and they proved to be right. 

The band ARC played out the night to a full Valley Beer 
Garden and many punters went home happy after a 
thrilling night of racing and entertainment.  

A BEAUTIFUL MELBOURNE SPRING 
EVENING SAW THE CROWDS 

FLOCK TO THE VALLEY.
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LADBROKES COX PLATE 
CARNIVAL EVENTS BUILDS  
THE ANTICIPATION FOR 
WHAT’S TO COME
The Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival continues to grow 
beyond the racing and over the 2017 carnival week 
our events were attended by huge crowds. We kicked 
off with A Legendary Night on September 12 with 150 
guests honouring 3-time W.S. Cox Plate champion 
Kingston Town (1980 - 82), including hearing from 
the horse’s 1980 winning jockey in Malcolm Johnston 
and 1981 winning jockey Ron Quinton. Brilliant 
interviewing by legendary racecaller Greg Miles 
saw all those in attendance enjoy a thrilling night of 
stories, laughs, insights and replays, all the while 
toasting a champion of our Legendary race, which 
champion mare Winx was out to equal in this year’s 
race. 

The Ladbrokes Cox Plate Launch on October 5 made  
a comeback, with our partners in the Art Series  
Hotel hosting our event at The Olsen in South Yarra.  
With special guests in attendance including Winx’s 
trainer Chris Waller, jockey Hugh Bowman and 
connections including Debbie and Paul Kepitis and 

Peter and Patty Tighe, the night was a roaring success 
and launched what was a huge three weeks ahead. 
A special appearance by legendary singer Daryl 
Braithwaite capped off a great night.  

A massive Cox Plate Carnival week kicked off with the 
Breakfast with the Best trackwork and the Barrier 
Draw Breakfast on Tuesday morning, which were 
both broadcast live on Racing.com. The crowd flocked 
to The Valley to catch a glimpse of Winx in the early 
hours with fans ten-deep around her horse stall at 
6am in the morning. Winx had a gallop on the course 
before over 50-60 horses followed for a final tune-up 
before the 18 races ahead. There was a genuine buzz 
around the course as Winx first paraded and then 
strutted her stuff on the track, while her connections 
were thrilled to choose barrier five for the champion 
mare before Saturday’s big race.   

The Ladies Lunch was again another sell-out with 
over 300 people attending the time-honoured event on 
the Wednesday of Cox Plate week. The gift bags alone 
are worth the admission, but a fashion show put on by 
the Miss World Finalists and best dressed prizes as 
judged by Cox Plate Carnival Ambassador Kylie Brown 
was also a big drawcard. Always a fun event between 
the door prizes, and live music entertainment from 
Nathanial and drinks at Legends after the event, the 
ladies are often seen leaving The Valley with a laugh 
and a lifetime of memories.
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CROWD RECORD

Ladbrokes Manikato Stakes 

11,805 
SOLD OUT

Ladbrokes Cox Plate Day 

32,617
Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival

44,422
RECORD

EXCEPTIONAL CROWD BEHAVIOUR ACROSS THE CARNIVAL

CORPORATE MARQUEES 
AND ENCLOSURES

33%47%
TAP ‘N’ GO  

PURCHASES

97%

Seven’s coverage of  
the 2017 Ladbrokes  
Cox Plate reached 

1.6M 
people nationally

WINX
TRACK RECORD

2:02:942015 - 2016 - 2017
3RD W.S. COX PLATE

35,000 67,000 
SERVED DURING COX PLATE WEEK

CANAPÉSPLATED MEALS

MARQUEE
BUILDVIEWS

The Story of the 
Cox Plate Video 

60,000 

WAGERING

Ladbrokes Manikato Stakes

$37.6M
Ladbrokes Cox Plate Day 

$99.2M
Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival

$136.8M
-0.6%-11.2%-8.5%
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RACING AT THE VALLEY
In addition to the two features across the 2017 
Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival, there were many 
highlights on the track throughout the 2017/18 season 
at The Valley. 

For the second consecutive year, Chris Waller trained 
the quinella in the Group 2 McCafe Moonee Valley Gold 
Cup, this time Who Shot TheBarman went one better 
with jockey Blake Shinn in the saddle to beat home 
stablemate Libran. Shinn had a day out on Ladbrokes 
Cox Plate Day winning three other races including the 
Group 2 Schweppes Crystal Mile on Lucky Hussler. The 
last of 18 races within a big 24 hours of racing finished 
with the VRC Oaks favourite Aloisia winning the Group 2 
Drummond Golf Vase in fine style. 

Wagering over the Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival was 
down a combined 8.48% over the two days against last 
year’s Carnival. Turnover on Ladbrokes Cox Plate Day 
was down 11% which was of no real surprise with Winx 
an unappealing betting prospect as a $1.16 favourite 
and the Ladbrokes Cox Plate forming the third leg of 
the Quaddie. 

The Club was actually on track for a record wagering 
turnover result on Ladbrokes Manikato Stakes Night 
until Chautauqua was infamously scratched behind  
the barriers, which saw all bets refunded on the  
‘Grey Flash’.

Season 21 of Night Racing at The Valley was another 
season full of highlights, none bigger than She Will 
Reign’s win the Group 1 Charter Keck Cramer Moir 
Stakes with Kerrin McEvoy in the saddle. There were 
plenty of knockers on the three-year-old filly returning 
from a Golden Slipper triumph to take on the big boys 
first-up in the Moir Stakes. History said it takes a very 
good one to do it and given Gary Portelli’s filly’s position 
on the home turn she is exactly that… a very good one. 
It was another high-quality renewal of the Moir Stakes 
which rated as equal 149th highest rated race in the 
world. 

Other great moments on the track under lights 
included Houtzen’s dominant performance in Group 3 
Simpson Construction Scarborough Stakes and I Am A 
Star in the Group 2 Zoustar Stocks Stakes.

Sprint sensation Nature Strip arrived on November  
17 in the 1Print Handicap as the three-year-old son  
of Nicconi strolled in for his second victory, but it  
was the style that he did it in by 5½ lengths that got 
people talking. 

The rising star of The Valley this season was 19-year-
old hoop Stephanie Thornton who has made Moonee 
Valley her own. 

In her first season of metropolitan riding, Thornton 
registered 15 wins at The Valley leading to her new title, 
‘The Queen of The Valley’. 
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The Group 1 Keogh Homes William Reid Stakes is the 
last Group 1 of the Victorian racing season each year 
and Darren Weir finished off the season with the same 
dominance he showed throughout the entire year with 
his son of I Am Invincible colt, Hellbent, securing not 
only a maiden Group 1 victory, but also a career at stud.

There were 16 heats of the Ladbrokes 55 Second 
Challenge this season and it took to the 16th and final 
heat to find the winner. Sale trainer Andrew Murray’s 
only horse in work Sunday Escape sizzled around  
The Valley in an ultra-impressive time of 54.75 to 
snatch victory from trainers Jerome Hunter and John 
Macmillan. 

Going into the last heat, Jerome had won three heats 
throughout the season and held the equal fastest 
time with John Macmillan of 55.12. While losing the 
$55,000 cheque from Ladbrokes at the last gasp, 

John - who was on course that night - showed great 
sportsmanship in leading Sunday Escape post-race 
so Andrew (both trainer and strapper) could be 
presented with the Ladbrokes $55,000 cheque in the 
Winner’s Circle.

It was another competitive season amongst the 
jockey ranks with 55 individual jockeys returning 
to the Winner’s Circle at least once throughout the 
season, but it was Craig Williams who won a second 
consecutive MVRC Jockey Premiership with 16, with 
Stephanie Thornton one behind on 15 wins.  

While there were 82 different trainers (and 
partnerships) winning a race at The Valley in season 
2017/18, it was no surprise that Darren Weir again 
won his third consecutive MVRC Trainer’s Premiership 
after notching 28 wins.

Full credit to Racecourse & Facilities Manager Martin 
Synan and the Moonee Valley Racing Club Track and 
Grounds team who prepared an excellent surface for 
most of the racing season. 

The track did struggle through winter as we expected 
for a track with a profile that is now 22 years old, but 
it did hold together through the three race meetings 
in June. The track is in excellent condition leading into 
the 2018/19 season and the 98th Ladbrokes Cox Plate.

THE TRACK IS IN AN EXCELLENT 
POSITION LEADING INTO SEASON 

2018/19 AND THE 98TH  
LADBROKES COX PLATE.
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MARKETING & COMMERCIAL
With such an historic occasion as Winx winning her 3rd 
W.S. Cox Plate, the Club achieved outstanding 
commercial results across all key racing related 
activities. 

With Ladbrokes becoming our Principal Partner, along 
with a number of new lucrative sponsorship deals,  
we saw a 54% increase in Annual Sponsorship Revenue.  
Total sponsorship revenue for the year grew to $3.902m. 

With the 2017 Cox Plate a sell-out event, revenue from 
General Admission ticket sales saw full year revenue 
grow 18% to $722,657. Total raceday attendance grew 
7.5% to 126,446 (for 23 race meetings compared to 25 in 
prior year). 

Membership revenue grew 17% to $1.457m and total 
members for the year were 7,160.

The Club achieved a record revenue result for ‘package’ 
sales. This includes dining, grandstand seating, 
marquees and enclosures. Total revenue grew 24.3%  
to $6.467m.

Total commercial revenue, excluding all gaming related 
revenue, grew 20.1% to $15.642m. 

RECOGNISING OUR CORPORATE PARTNERS
Over the past year we have been fortunate to retain 
the support of many of our wonderful Corporate 
Partners and all at the Club are grateful for this.

In the first full season of our Major Partnership, 
Ladbrokes delivered some fantastic marketing 
campaigns, digital content, customer promotions and 
on track activity to support the Ladbrokes Cox Plate 
and other key assets like the Ladbrokes 55 Second 
Challenge. 

The superb Ladbrokes Lounge was also activated 
at each race meeting and is a facility that can be 
accessed by our Members and attended simply by 
having Ladbrokes account. 

Amongst our Partners to re-commit to the MVRC 
were Cox Plate Carnival Partners Inglis, Drummond 
Golf, 1300 Australia, McCafe, Schweppes and Powerflo 
Solutions. 

The Club is also grateful to have secured several new 
partnerships including Essendon Mitsubishi, Crown 
Resorts, Harrolds, The Westin, Australian Unity, CHiQ, 
Shaemus Mills Bloodstock, Gecko Sports and Hygain.

We would like to thank and acknowledge all of our 
valued partners for their support of the Club.  

A RELAUNCH OF THE VALLEY BRAND
One of the major pieces of work undertaken by 
the marketing team was a project to update the 
commercial brand of the Club to reflect our current 
activities and the direction in which we want to take 
the Club. The project set out to discover more about 
where we’ve come from and why we really exist, so we 
could better articulate the meaning behind our brand 
to our customers.   

The project discovered that despite a legendary 
heritage and international reputation, The Valley 
remains “genuine” and easy going with a welcoming 
community feel. That’s because we’re more 
than racing … ultimately, we’re an entertainment 
destination that brings people together for any 
occasion. The Valley’s new brandmark was born 
with the tagline ‘Let’s Celebrate’, which is being 
progressively developed to highlight the multitude of 
great experiences available to visitors at The Valley.

DEVELOPED TO HIGHLIGHT THE 
MULTITUDE OF GREAT EXPERIENCES 
THAT ARE AVAILABLE TO VISITORS 

AT THE VALLEY.
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MEDIA PARTNERS
We are proud to receive support from our official 
media partners of the Moonee Valley Racing Club.

Our host broadcast partners Seven West Media 
(Channel 7 and Racing.com) have been integral to a 
successful year for the Moonee Valley Racing Club, 
with the 2017 Ladbrokes Cox Plate and Ladbrokes 
Friday Night Lights season reaching more people than 
ever before. 

The 2017 Ladbrokes Cox Plate coverage was world-
class and recorded a reach of over 1.6M people 
nationally, which is a credit to the telecast captured on 
the day. 

Racing.com continues to embrace our Ladbrokes 
Friday Night Lights product, which is fun and 
innovative, and they bring that to life in their 
broadcast. Their belief in bringing entertainment 
and racing together to showcase The Valley into the 
loungerooms of viewers shines through and we thank 
them for their ongoing support. 

The 2017 Spring Racing Carnival also delivered record 
engagement across broadcast, digital and social 
media coverage for Racing.com.

From the launch of the Spring Racing Carnival on 
September 1 until the conclusion on November 26, 
which included the 2017 Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival 
and many Ladbrokes Friday Night Lights meetings, 

Racing.com achieved record audience figures across 
all platforms.

Data sourced from Google Analytics and Telstra, the 
streaming partner of Racing.com, showed:

•	 Average weekly users increased to more than 
241,000 (up 31 per cent on 184,000 for 2016 Spring 
Racing Carnival);

•	 Total user sessions > 7.2 million (up 22 per cent 
on 6 million for 2016 Spring Racing Carnival);

•	 Video On Demand (replays and features) > 2.2 
million views (up 32 per cent on 1.7 million views 
for 2016 Spring Racing Carnival);

•	 Video On Demand (replays and features) > 5.4 
million minutes (up 26 per cent on 4.3 million 
minutes for 2016 Spring Racing Carnival); and

•	 Live streaming (re-transmission of live racing in 
the Racing.com linear broadcast on the Racing.
com App/web platforms) > 11.5 million minutes 
(up 16 per cent on 9.9 million minutes for 2016 
Spring Racing Carnival).

Approximately 40 per cent of the Racing.com digital 
audience comes from outside Victoria.

Racing.com also welcomed 70,000 new Racing Plus 
subscribers, with the total Racing Plus community 
now exceeding 224,500 people to have signed up to 
December. Another indicator of increasing audience 
engagement has been the growing levels of active 
social media audience across Twitter, Facebook and 
Instagram for Racing.com.

The Herald Sun is another strong media partner of 
the MVRC. Their reach in Victoria is unparalleled and 
allows the MVRC to broadcast our events and club 
announcements to a wider audience. Their support 
across our racing calendar and beyond is greatly 
appreciated.

Our radio partnerships with RSN927 and SEN1116 
are critical to sharing MVRC’s key messages and we 
thank them for their ongoing support. The increase in 
outside broadcasts conducted this year further helped 
showcase our events and brought the experience of 
being at The Valley into people’s cars and houses 
across Victoria.   
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MVRC MEMBERS REMAIN THE LIFEBLOOD 
OF THE CLUB
The MVRC greatly values the on-going support 
provided by our Members. The continuation of our 
Race for Awards and member benefits programs  
for our most loyal racegoers is a sign of our 
appreciation. The Club continues to develop and 
expand on our Membership loyalty program to  
ensure that our Members receive maximum  
benefits for their patronage.

The Club continues to work on developing popular 
events for Members such as the Tour of Living 
Legends, Junior Jock and Apprentice Members’ 
Christmas Parties and A Legendary Night, as well  
as working on exciting new initiatives.

We continue to improve our communications program 
with our members to ensure that they are kept 
abreast with what Club activities. These regular 
communications include electronic weekly updates, 
the ‘On Track’ Members’ magazine and regular 
updates from the CEO. 

As a membership-based organisation, we are always 
focused on our Members and have an ongoing 
strategy to increase our membership numbers. 
The Club was delighted to report that membership 
increased by 20% year on year. This was another 
aspect of our commercial activities that was boosted 
by Winx’s appearance in the 2017 Cox Plate. 

The Club introduced two new membership packages 
to capitalise on the strong interest in the 2017 
Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival, with our highly 
exclusive Club 100 membership and Legendary 
membership (valid for 4 years) launched for the  
2017/18 season. 

The Club also saw an increase across a number of 
membership categories from the 2016/17 Season - 
New Full Young Members increased by 244, New Full 
Members increased by 308, Season Tickets increased 
by 467 and Annual Guest Cards increased by 183.

FULL MEMBERS

LIFE MEMBER

FULL MEMBERS 
- YOUNG

HONORARY MEMBER

CLUB 100

ANNUAL GUEST  
CARDS

LEGENDARY

SEASON TICKETS

SUMMER MEMBERSHIP
(FULL & YOUNG)

ABSENTEE

3,912

57

1,170

138

68

1,072

44

490

174

35
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Leonie Abbott

Mike Allen

Daniel Atkins

Timothy Barrett

Philip Bonney

Joanne Borg

Richard Bourke

John Brick

Michael Browell

Christopher Brownhill

Graeme Cannon

Bradley Capovilla

Glenn Carmody

Amanda Catanach

Marli Cham

Shane Corben

Ian Couper

Janette Culbert

John Cummins

Sandra Dalton

Jamie Davis

Matt Davies

Dale Day

Darren Dean

Steven Douglas

Robert Elliott

Malcolm Fallon

Allan Fletcher

Bruce Free

Peter Fuska

Shae Gay

Gary Gray

Stuart Hackney

David Hartley

James Henderson

Louise Henry

Allan Hogg

Robert James

Peter Jensen

Allison Kempster

Luke Kinniburgh

Greg Lamb

Cain Liddle

Joe Luci

Brendan Madden

Karen Madden

John Malcolm

Giovanni Mazzeo

Peter McGinley

Tim Olive

Darryl Overton

Kenneth William Prince

Robyn Richter

Rod Russell

Leo Sabatino

Peter Sadler

Peter Sandars

Greg Seers

Andrew Sellers

Anthony Sitch

Wayne Sweeney

Ben Tatterson

Darren Thomas

Eleanor Thomas

Glen Thorogood

Mark Whorlow

Edward Wittenberg Jnr

John Woodman

The Moonee Valley Racing Club would like to take this 
opportunity to acknowledge our 2017/18 Club 100 
Members and thank them for their support:



WHERE  
ENTERTAINMENT 

LIVES



MVRC IN THE COMMUNITY
2017 COX PLATE CHARITY PINS RAISE 
MUCH NEEDED FUNDS FOR THE ROYAL 
CHILDREN’S HOSPITAL FOUNDATION
Partnering with the Royal Children’s Hospital 
Foundation, the MVRC was proud to raise over 
$14,500 through the sale of the 2017 Cox Plate  
Charity Pins.

Funds will be donated to help and assist the great 
work the Royal Children’s Hospital does and assist 
young patients like jockey and cystic fibrosis sufferer 
Harry Coffey. The now Group 1 winning jockey 
volunteered his time as the Cox Plate Charity Pin 
Ambassador and helped launch the campaign at 
Living Legends in Greenvale with 1998 W.S. Cox Plate 
winner Might and Power and RCH Associate Professor 
John Massie.

“It gives us great pleasure each and every year to 
support the Royal Children’s Hospital Foundation 
through the sale of our Cox Plate Charity Pins,”  
said MVRC CEO Michael Browell.

“Each year the donation from the Cox Plate Carnival 
Charity Pin grows and it gives us great joy knowing it 
will be going to such a worthwhile cause to help the 
lives of those sick children in need.”

NATIONAL JOCKEYS TRUST
The annual National Jockey’s Trust T20 Cricket Match 
raised record funds in 2018 with $115,000 raised 
for this worthwhile cause. The MVRC was proud to 
support the popular event by sponsoring W.S. Cox 
Plate winning jockey Steven Arnold.

The MVRC also donated $2,149 to the NJT through our 
Racebook Punter’s Club across the Ladbrokes Friday 
Night Lights season.

E.J. WHITTEN FOUNDATION
The eighth annual E.J. Whitten Foundation Race Night 
was held on March 2 at The Valley, with plenty of funds 
raised on the night for the foundation. With retired 
Racing Steward Des Gleeson a special guest in the 
Committee Room and plenty of auction items on offer, 
it was a fantastic night all round. The MVRC is proud 
to continue to support and help raise awareness for 
prostate cancer, with this event alone collectively 
raising over $250,000 since our association began.

EPWORTH HEALTH CARE
We were pleased to host the Friends of Epworth for 
their annual raceday in June. Epworth Health Care 
have been long-time supporters of the MVRC and on 
this day has over 250 patrons in attendance, raising 
funds for new clinical equipment. 

WESTERN HEALTH FOUNDATION
$85,000 was raised at the sixth annual BreastWest 
Night at The Valley to help raise funds to support 
those suffering from Breast Cancer in the West. On 
a wonderful and heart-warming evening, eleven 
recently-diagnosed “fashion models” took to the 
catwalk on the arm of Western Bulldogs players, 
while singing sensation Anthony Callea entertained 
the crowd.
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LIVING LEGENDS
Members of the MVRC team donated their time at the 
Greenvale property of Living Legends to help install 
and fertilise the new StrathAyr grass surface, whilst 
also completing carriageway restoration. 

With many W.S. Cox Plate legends now at Living 
Legends, including Might and Power and Fields of 
Omagh, we were more than happy to donate time and 
resources to such a worthy cause.

WALK FOR PHIL FOUNDATION
The Valley played host to a large contingent of walkers 
and provided a complimentary breakfast as patrons 
set off on a 23-kilometre trek to Flemington, before 
concluding at Caulfield. 

Over $70,000 was raised on the day and donated to 
Very Special Kids and Pinchapoo.

BARBECURE - CURE CANCER AUSTRALIA
To celebrate Australia Day on Australia Stakes Night, 
The Valley’s popular public holiday race meeting 
hosted a range of Aussie activities, which are never 
complete without a Big Aussie BBQ. 

We were proud to partner with Barbecure and Cure 
Cancer Australia to donate all proceeds of the 
sausage sizzle, totalling $1,000, to this worthwhile 
cause.

 
 

 
CJD SUPPORT GROUP NETWORK
Richmond Premiership player Jack Riewoldt was a 
special guest of the CJD Support Group Network who 
hosted their fundraising event at The Valley on February 
9. The CJD Support Group Network Australia offers 
support, information and assistance for family members 
and friends of patients suffering with suspected 
Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease and other prion disease, and 
for those at increased risk of developing CJD.

WHITE RIBBON STEP CHALLENGE
The Valley was the destination of choice for a group 
of Year 9 students from Rosehill Secondary College 
who spent the day climbing steps to help raise funds 
for the White Ribbon Foundation. In a bid to raise 
awareness for violence against women, the eight 
students raised over $9,000 and heard from AFL 
Premiership player and White Ribbon Ambassador 
Chris Johnson as well as rising star jockey Brooke 
Sweeney, who dropped in to encourage the 
youngsters.

84 CHARITIES

52 SCHOOLS

6 RACING INDUSTRY 1 HEALTH SERVICE

67 SPORTS CLUBS

=

18 COMMUNITY TOTAL RECIPIENTS
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VALLEY OF TOMORROW
Over the past twelve months, the Club has been 
progressing our historic transformation of The Valley 
precinct that will lead a new era for racing, MVRC 
members and community.

The result will be a world-leading sports, entertainment 
and lifestyle precinct that will build on our wonderful 
heritage and provide exciting new facilities for all to enjoy 
for many generations to come.

This project has been nearly a decade in the planning 
and will set new benchmarks for the Australian racing 
industry. The precinct includes new racing-related 
facilities, a visionary new grandstand and clubhouse,  
a renewed and re-configured track and other amenities 
designed to deliver an unparalleled experience. 

The racetrack infield will also be thoroughly revitalised, 
with facilities providing for enhanced levels of 
community use and events.

The Club invited four of Australia’s leading architectural 
firms to compete for the new Grandstand that will 
be the centerpiece of the new Moonee Valley racing 
development.  

Cox Architecture were selected after presenting a 
futuristic, iconic grandstand that will re-define the racing 
experience for club members and racegoers.  

We have worked closely with Cox to progress the 
key design elements of the Grandstand to ensure 
permeability, access and amenity; functional utilisation 
and precinct connectivity.  

The Club has spent considerable time over the past year 
focusing on the detailed design of the new racecourse 
to ensure it meets the exceptionally high standard that 
we want to achieve. We have appointed DCE Engineering 
- leading experts in their field – to work closely with 
the Club to design a world-class, state-of-the-art new 
racecourse.  

Planning is well progressed on the key design 
characteristics on the racecourse, horse stalls, 
mounting yard, lighting, water management, internal 
road network, tunnels and raceday requirements. 

LIFESTYLE NEIGHBOURHOOD
As part of the project, MVRC commenced a Joint  
Venture with Australia’s leading superannuation 
fund Hostplus and developer Hamton in November 
2017. Through this partnership, we will develop a new 
contemporary lifestyle neighbourhood within the wider 
precinct. 

The new racing facilities will be complemented by 
a world-class residential, retail and commercial 
development that will be enhanced by public open space 
and community facilities.  

CHILDCARE CENTRE
The Club has secured leading operator Think to 
lease the childcare centre that will be developed in 
the historic Secretary’s Residence in the north-west 
corner of the Moonee Valley Racecourse.  

The Moonee Valley City Council issued a planning 
permit to the Club in May 2018 that will see this 
residence converted into a high quality childcare 
centre for 90 children. Construction has commenced, 
and the centre will be operational mid-2019.  

The design carefully respects the heritage of the 
existing building with the contemporary addition 
receiving the support of the Council’s Heritage 
Advisor. The historic Edna Walling garden will also be 
maintained.

THE VALLEY INFIELD
A key opportunity through this project will be the 
racecourse infield.  With over 20 hectares of open 
space, the Club will consider how we can utilise this 
open space for a wide range of active and passive 
recreational activities for club members, residents 
and the local community.   

CONSULTATION
As the Valley of Tomorrow project progresses, we 
will continue to consult closely with our members, 
industry stakeholders and the local community.  
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HOSPITALITY
It is now almost 50 years since the Club took our 
catering operations in-house and the journey has been 
quite remarkable. Our standing in the marketplace has 
never been stronger yet our next phase of growth is also 
highly promising. 

Over the past season we have embarked on an exciting 
journey with the launch of our hospitality strategy 
focused on the next five years, whilst we also play a 
critical role with our Master Plan and Grandstand 
project. 

One key deliverable from our strategy is the expansion 
of our catering and events services, designed to 
maximise a determined push into new premium off-
course markets, allowing us to further leverage our 
considerable catering and event expertise, capacity and 
experience to a broader audience.

The first partnership to be announced is with the world-
renowned PGA Tour Inc, where we will be providing 
hospitality solutions for the World Cup of Golf at The 
Metropolitan Golf Club, 21-25 November 2018 and the 
2019 Presidents Cup to be held on December 9-15, 2019, 
when it returns to the prestigious Royal Melbourne  
Golf Club.

Our strategy will evolve as will the way we position 
ourselves in the marketplace through our brand,  
our food philosophy and how we deliver events.

We are extremely proud of our achievements when 
reflecting on the past season, from delivering record 
hospitality sales across the 2017 Ladbrokes Cox Plate 
Carnival through to our non-raceday events.

 

 

The 2017 Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival saw record 
sales across our members and public bars, supported 
by higher attendances and growth from an expanded 
product mix.

Our temporary infrastructure partner, Harry the Hirer, 
presented our hospitality spaces in pristine condition 
over the season and the strength of our partnership 
continues to grow as we are constantly striving to 
enhance the on-course experience in the lead up to  
Cox Plate 100 in 2020.

Valley Events delivered another successful season of 
non-raceday events and functions with more than 74,000 
guests catered across events, banquets, conferences, 
exhibitions and exams. 

Of the 300 plus catered non raceday events this year, 
41% of them had more than 500 guests in attendance, 
37% of our events were conferences with 32% of our 
event’s gala dinner style.

WE CONTINUE TO INVEST IN  
OUR MOST VALUABLE RESOURCE  

- OUR PEOPLE
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The team served more than 110,000 meal items 
throughout Cox Plate week, with a refined focus on 
quality and locally sourced ingredients. 

Our culinary team continues to evolve and improve on 
their delivery and we expanded our resources to support 
our gaming venues and will continue to develop this in 
coming years as we head into our heavy growth phase.

Our partnership with Carlton and United Breweries 
continues to evolve and following the successful 2017 
Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival we have been working 
closely to deliver one of the most unique experiences 
ever seen at a major event with Carlton Draught 
producing a commemorative Winx beer for the 2018  
Cox Plate Carnival.

We maintain a strong focus on collaborating with local 
food operators in our retail food delivery, and using local 
café operators in key areas has delivered an enhanced 
casual food experience for our members and general 
public.

We continue to invest in our most valuable resource – 
our people. Supporting this has been the collaboration 
with our People & Culture, Gaming and Racing 
Operations teams to centralise casual workforce 
planning into the one team.

This collaborative use of resources has enabled us 
to strengthen our casual talent through improved 
recruitment and onboarding, enhanced operational 
standards and training and development.

We continued to provide excellent employment 
opportunities for the local community, with over 40%  
of our talent pool coming from residents located within  
a 10km radius of the club.  
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GAMING
The Club has expanded our investment into the gaming 
sector throughout the year, securing the Leighoak Club 
from the Melbourne Football Club on 31 July 2018.  
This acquisition follows the Club purchasing the 
Junction Club from the Victorian Harness Racing  
Social Club in May 2017. 

The Club now operates three gaming venues with a total 
of 278 electronic gaming machines. Whilst the Club 
has no immediate plans to further increase our gaming 
footprint, we will continue to evaluate opportunities as 
they become available.  

Throughout the year, the VCGLR finalised the 
arrangements for the gaming industry post-2022.  
The current regime saw ten-year licenses issued in 
2012. Under the new model, venues were granted  
20-year extensions to their gaming licenses, providing 
certainty now out to 2042. 

Legends has had another strong year, providing an 
EBITDA result of $1.78m. The Junction Club had a full 
year of operation under our ownership and achieved  
an EBITDA of $413,348. The Junction Club operates 
under a gaming management services agreement  
with Tabcorp Gaming Solution through until 2022.  
There will be significant uplift for the Club when this 
contract concludes.  

The Leighoak Club settlement was scheduled on the 
final day of our 2017/18 financial year with all acquisition 
costs brought to account. The net impact of these costs 
against only one day of trade saw the Leighoak post a 
result of ($89,540). 

PEOPLE & CULTURE
PEOPLE & CULTURE STRATEGY SETS OUT TO 
PUT PEOPLE FIRST
During the past financial year, the People & Culture 
team continued their action in line with their formal 
People & Culture Strategic Plan document. 

The key focus pillars remain the same:

•	 Attracting and retaining high-quality people

•	 Learning and development

•	 Performance management

•	 Collaboration and communication

•	 Leadership 

Recent employee engagement scores showed some 
significant improvements on the 2017 engagement 
scores, including: 

•	 Working environment – 82% up 2% on 2017 

•	 Belonging – 79% up 3% on 2017 

•	 Alignment and involvement - 72% up 5% on 2017 

 
MOONEE VALLEY RACING CLUB PREPARING 
FOR THE FUTURE
Over the last 12 months, the Club has begun a plan 
around preparing for the future. In consultation with 
senior management teams, People & Culture identified 
and recruited nine new positions to meet our current 
and future growth needs. 

A snapshot of some of the successful recruitments are 
as follows;

•	 Senior Development Manager – to assist our Head 
of Development to bring the Valley of Tomorrow to 
life;

•	 General Manager of Gaming Venues – to oversee 
our three Gaming Venues;

•	 Community Engagement Manager – to implement 
the club’s Community Engagement Strategy and 
develop action plans to help manage community 
affairs and issues of the Club;

•	 Graphic Designer - to allow the business to produce 
more of our own marketing collateral and shorten 
turnaround times;

•	 Workforce Planning team - consisting of a 
Workforce Planning Manager and Coordinator which 
has centralised all casual staffing throughout the 
business.  

The Club currently employs 103 full-time staff and over 
750 casual staff. 
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LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT ACTICITY 
CONTINUES TO RISE
In line with the People & Culture Strategic Plan, the Club 
continued to invest heavily in training and development, 
with over 1,500 hours of training completed over the 
season, at an average of approximately 16 hours per 
permanent staff member.

As part of the Leadership focus that the Club has 
identified that falls within the People & Culture Strategic 
Plan, the People & Culture team have developed a 
Leadership Development Plan for Senior Managers and 
Line Managers. This program is designed to empower 
our leaders to improve their performance and their 
teams and deliver an immediate impact to engagement 
and productivity.  

STAFF WELCOMED INTO THE FOLD FROM 
THE LEIGHOAK CLUB
The People & Culture team were thrilled to support the 
integration and transition of staff at the Leighoak Club 
into the MVRC family. This involved transferring Leighoak 
Club staff across to MVRC employment contracts, 
signing off on position descriptions, inductions, policy 
compliance work and rostering and payroll services. 

EMPLOYEE MILESTONES CELEBRATED THIS 
SEASON
Congratulations and thank you to the following loyal 
and long-serving employees who reached anniversary 
milestones during the 2017/18 season:

ANTHONY SALISBURY MARK CLOHESY

DAVID McLNERNEY

LIAM SMITH

GLENN PAYNE

ELLEN BYRNES

JAMES BATTLE

YEARS
20

YEARS
10

YEARS
5
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RISK MANAGEMENT
The Club continues to place a concentrated emphasis 
on ensuring our venues are safe environments for staff, 
contractors and patrons.

Led by our Risk & Compliance Manager, Wade Dixon, 
key achievements during the year were:

•	 Early involvement and review of ancillary activities 
associated with the master plan redevelopment i.e. 
childcare centre, display suite;

•	 Various improvements on risk mitigation for patrons  
via hazard reporting procedures, raceday reporting  
and pre-event checks;

•	 Continued improvement around contractor 
management including accreditation processes, 
inductions and audits;

•	 Implementation of Junction Club Emergency 
Management Plan and associated training for staff; 

•	 Continuation of emergency tabletop scenarios 
with members of MVRC Emergency Planning 
Committee;

•	 Risk Assessment and associated risk-related tasks 
on acquisition of Leighoak Club;

•	 Development of various policies and procedures 
formalising the Club’s current work practices

•	 Participation in industry forums including the 
Victorian Mass Gatherings Network.

 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
The Club continues to invest in its IT infrastructure to 
ensure members, patrons and staff can utilise modern 
technologies at the racecourse.

The IT team were heavily involved in integrating the 
Leighoak Club into MVRC networks and systems, 
including new infrastructure, wi-fi facilities, data lines, 
rostering and payroll, and accounts payable. Work was 
also completed on various IT and telephony services 
at the Junction Club to provide the equivalent level of 
service enjoyed by our other sites and users.

Our IT Managed Service provider, Advantage Technology 
Solutions, has continued to do a good job in managing 
our network and delivering a high level of support to 
MVRC and third-party users across the season. 

The Club is embarking on a major expansion of its  
on-course WIFI capabilities, which includes increasing 
the capacity of areas currently serviced by the network 
as well as provisioning service to areas not previously 
covered by the network, including car parks and the 
infield area. This work is scheduled to be completed in 
time for the 2018 Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival. 
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WHERE THE 
FUTURE LOOKS 

BRIGHT



WINX
Trainer: Chris Waller
Jockey: Hugh Bowman

LADBROKES COX PLATE
GROUP 1 (2040M)
PRIZE MONEY: $3,000,000

HEY DOC
Trainer: Tony McEvoy
Jockey: Luke Currie

LADBROKES MANIKATO STAKES
GROUP 1 (1200M)
PRIZE MONEY: $1,000,000

SHE WILL REIGN
Trainer: Gary Portelli
Jockey: Kerrin McEvoy

CHARTER KECK CRAMER MOIR STAKES
GROUP 1 (1000M)
PRIZE MONEY: $500,000

HELLBENT
Trainer: Darren Weir
Jockey: Craig Williams

KEOGH HOMES WILLIAM REID STAKES
GROUP 1 (1200M)
PRIZE MONEY: $500,000

FEATURE RACE WINNERS
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SPANISH REEF
Trainer: Ken Keys

Jockey: Mark Zahra

ASCEND SALES TROPHIES SUNLINE STAKES
GROUP 2 (1600M)

PRIZE MONEY: $200,000

ALOISIA
Trainer: Aaron Purcell

Jockey: Luke Nolen

DRUMMOND GOLF VASE
GROUP 2 (2040M)

PRIZE MONEY: $200,000

SHOWTIME
Trainer: Michael, Wayne & John Hawkes

Jockey: Beu Mertens

JOHNNIE WALKER STUTT STAKES
GROUP 2 (1600M)

PRIZE MONEY: $200,000

LUCKY HUSSIER
Trainer: Darren Weir
Jockey: Blake Shinn

SCHWEPPES CRYSTAL MILE
GROUP 2 (1600M)

PRIZE MONEY: $200,000

THRONUM
Trainer: David & B Hayes & T Dabernig

Jockey: Mark Zahra

CARLTON DRAUGHT AUSTRALIA STAKES
GROUP 2 (1200M)

PRIZE MONEY: $200,000

CLIFF’S EDGE
Trainer: Darren Weir
Jockey: Jamie Mott

HACER GROUP ALISTER CLARK STAKES
GROUP 2 (2040M)

PRIZE MONEY: $200,000

WHO SHOT THEBARMAN

Trainer: Chris Waller
Jockey: Blake Shinn

McCAFE MOONEE VALLEY GOLD CUP
GROUP 2 (2500M)

PRIZE MONEY: $300,000

I AM A STAR
Trainer: Shane Nichols

Jockey: Ben Melham

ZOUSTAR STOCKS STAKES
GROUP 2 (1600M)

PRIZE MONEY: $200,000

BONNEVAL
Trainer: Murray Baker & Andrew Forsman

Jockey: Damian Lane

DATO’ TAN CHIN NAM STAKES
GROUP 2 (1600M)

PRIZE MONEY: $250,000

BANISH
Trainer: James Cummings

Jockey: Craig Williams

ITALKTRAVEL FILLIES CLASSIC
GROUP 2 (1600M)

PRIZE MONEY: $200,000

RUSSIAN REVOLUTION
Trainer: Peter & Paul Snowden

Jockey: Mark Zahra

MITTY’S McEWEN STAKES
GROUP 2 (1000M)

PRIZE MONEY: $200,000
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FINANCE
OPERATING PERFORMANCE FOR 2017/18 
FINANCIAL YEAR
The Moonee Valley Racing Club recorded an operating 
profit of $2,481,000 for the year to 31 July, 2018, which 
was a $3,551,000 improvement on the prior year’s 
loss of $1,070,000. 

The result was boosted by the receipt of the first 
$5,000,000 proceeds from the Club’s Master Plan 
project.    

Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation & 
Amortisation (EBITDA) for the year were $6,359,000 
against $2,486,000 in the prior year. 

Total revenues were up $10,044,000 (19.1%) and total 
expenses were up $6,439,000 (12.1%) on 2016/17. 

Apart from the Master Plan revenue and Racing.com 
investment write down discussed above, the main 
driver in the year on year increase in revenues and 
expenses was the acquisition of the Junction Club 
venue, which was acquired in May 2017. As such, 
2017/18 was the first full year under MVRC operation.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income includes a 
$29,460,000 upward revaluation of the Club’s freehold 
landholdings.  

The Club wrote down the value of a number of our 
media assets, including Racing.com ($666,000) and 
RSN ($255,000). As a result, Total Comprehensive 
Income was $31,866,000 against a 2016/17 loss of 
$1,070,000.

A total of 23 racemeetings were conducted during  
the 2017/18 season (prior year = 25).  



REVENUE
Industry funding was up $1,266,000 (5.5%) on the prior 
year, which is largely attributable to changes in the 
industry distribution model negotiated by the Victorian 
Clubs at the end of the previous season, as well as 
a special one-off distribution from Racing Victoria 
following an un-budgeted surplus in 2017/18. 

Non-raceday catering and gaming revenues were up 
$3,155,000 (28.9%) for the year, primarily as a result of 
the first full year of trading for the Junction Club venue. 
This line will grow further in 2018/19 as a result of the 
acquisition of the Leighoak Club venue on 31 July 2018.

Raceday Catering, Admissions and Memberships  
all recorded pleasing growth on the previous year,  
largely on the back of the successful 2017 Ladbrokes  
Cox Plate Carnival.

As noted above, other income is up by $5,490,000 on 
prior year, mainly due to the first receipt of proceeds 
from the Master Plan project.

EXPENSES
Prizemoney payments were up $72,000 (0.4%) on 
prior year. Although base prizemoney levels funded by 
Racing Victoria increased in some areas, the overall 
amount paid was relatively flat due to the reduced 
number of meetings conducted at MVRC during  
the year.

Non-raceday catering and gaming expenses were up 
$3,175,000 (33.0%) with most of this attributable to 
the annualised impact of the 2017 acquisition of the 
Junction Club venue.

Racecourse Maintenance expenses were up $350,000 
(7.3%) on the back of increases to land tax, water 
charges and electricity.

Other Raceday Expenses were up $971,000 (18.9%), 
driven largely by the increased cost of temporary 
infrastructure to cater for the phenomenal demand  
for the 2017 Ladbrokes Cox Plate Carnival, plus  
related increases in security and raceday advertising 
and promotions.

Administration costs were up $418,000 (10.4%).  
This includes increased expenditure on the Club’s 
insurance program, recruitment costs, plus an 
increased headcount for the property division to 
manage the Club’s Master Plan development and the 
creation of a new workforce planning team to manage 
rostering across the business, including the three 
gaming venues. 

Marketing, membership and business development 
expenses were up $356,000 (13.3%) as the Club 
increased its resourcing in this area as part of a long-
term strategy to grow revenues across the racing and 
non-racing areas of the business.

STRONG BALANCE SHEET
As noted earlier, the Club re-valued part of its freehold 
land by $29,640,000 during the year in line with updated 
valuations received as part of the Master Plan process. 

Freehold Land is now valued in the balance sheet at 
$186,899,000.

On 31 July 2018, the Club acquired the Leighoak Club 
gaming venue from Melbourne Football Club. These 
assets and the related borrowings are included in the 
year-end Balance Sheet numbers. 

The Club continues to boast a strong balance sheet, 
with net assets of $224.5 million, up $32.9 million 
(0.6%) on the previous year.  

The Club continues to generate positive cash flows 
at an EBITDA level and expects that the acquisition 
of the Leighoak Club venue will significantly boost 
this number in future years. Work will continue on 
the Master Plan project across the 2018/19 season, 
however the next tranche of revenues from the  
Master Plan project are not expected until the  
2020/21 season.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018

 2018  2017 
 Note  $000  $000 

Income
Thoroughbred racing industry distribution
 - Prizemoney minimums funding 19,518 19,425
 - Other funding 4,652 3,479
Sponsorship & broadcast rights 6,631 7,498
Admissions 1,340 1,003
Nominations and acceptances 1,103 1,190
Membership subscriptions 1,462 1,257
Raceday catering 6,596 6,083
Other raceday revenue 857 769
Non-Raceday catering & gaming revenue 14,077 10,922
Interest received 5 1
Share of profits/(losses) from investments in associates 8 850 584
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of fixed assets (271) 55
Other income 3 5,681 191
Total Income 62,501 52,457

Expenditure
Returns To Owners
 - Prizemoney 19,807 19,735
 - Other payments & subsidies 230 282
Racecourse maintenance 5,127 4,777
Raceday catering expenses 3,969 3,754
Other raceday expenses 6,110 5,139
Marketing, membership and business development 3,030 2,674
Non-Raceday catering & gaming expenses 12,792 9,617
Administration 4,411 3,993
Depreciation/Amortisation 3,746 3,389
Impairment - available-for-sale assets 666 -
Interest expense 132 167
Total Expenditure 60,020 53,527

Net Surplus/(Loss) 2,481 (1,070)

Fair value adjustment - available-for-sale assets 9 (255) -
Revaluation of freehold land 6 29,640 -

Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss) 31,866 (1,070)

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 JULY, 2018

 2018 2017
 Note  $000  $000 

Current Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents  1,417 382
Trade and other receivables 5 1,637 3,114
Inventories  982 854
Prepayments  827 525
Financial assets 9 3,511 2,662
Total Current Assets  8,374 7,537

Non-Current Assets  
Property, plant and equipment 6 226,229 193,759
Intangible assets 7 11,632 3,579
Financial assets 9 820 1,742
Total Non-Current Assets  238,681 199,080
Total Assets  247,055 206,617

Current Liabilities  
Trade and other payables 10 3,774 3,478
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 11 1,166 3,338
Advance fees and subscriptions 12 4,487 3,675
Employee benefits 13 1,311 1,167
Total Current Liabilities  10,738 11,658

Non-Current Liabilities  
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 11 11,509 2,025
Employee benefits 13 333 325
Total Non-Current Liabilities  11,842 2,350
Total Liabilities  22,580 14,008
Net Assets  224,475 192,609

Members’ Funds
Accumulated funds 83,831 81,350
Reserves – revaluation of available for sale financial assets 240 495
Reserves – revaluation of land and buildings 140,404  110,764 
Total Members’ Funds 224,475 192,609

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018

 2018 2017
 Note  $000  $000 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities  
Receipts from customers 72,455 57,662
Payments to owners (22,041) (22,019)
Payments to suppliers and employees (40,467) (34,331)
Goods and services tax received/(paid) (904) (105)
Interest paid  (131)  (164)

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) From Operating Activities 14 8,912 1,043

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Payment for business combination 4  (10,650)  (3,000) 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (4,278) (1,784)
Scheduled payments for Electronic Gaming Machine licences (79) (336)
Deposits paid for 2022 Electronic Gaming Machine licences (206) -
Investment in Racing.com - (666)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment 27 76
Distributions received from equity investments - APN - 159

Net Cash Outflow From Investing Activities (15,185) (4,885)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 10,650 5,000
Repayment of borrowings (3,342) (37)
Net Cash Inflow From Financing Activities 7,308 4,963
Net Increase/(Decrease) In Cash And Cash Equivalents 1,035  1,121
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 382 (739)

Cash and Cash Equivalents At End Of  Year 1,417 382

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018

$000 $000 $000
Members’ 

Funds
Fair Value 

Reserve
Total 

Equity

At 31 July, 2016 82,420 111,259 193,679

Loss for the year (1,070) - (1,070)
At 31 July, 2017 81,350 111,259 192,609

Profit for the year 2,481 - 2,481

Other comprehensive income - (255) (255)

Revalution of land to fair value - 29,640 29,640
As at 31 July, 2018 83,831 140,644 224,475

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1.	 GENERAL

Moonee Valley Racing Club Inc. (MVRC or the Club) is a not-for-profit, incorporated association domiciled 
in Victoria, Australia. The registered office of the Club is McPherson Street, Moonee Ponds. The Club’s 
principal activity is that of thoroughbred horse racing. As at 31 July, 2018 the Club had 177 active, full-time 
equivalent employees (2017: 163). 

This financial report for the Moonee Valley Racing Club Inc. for the year ended 31 July, 2018, comprising 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Cash flows, 
Statement of Changes in Equity (and notes to the financial statements that form an integral part of the 
report) was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Committee on 25 September, 2018.

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012, Australian Accounting Standards 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”), and  
the Club’s Rules.

This report is presented in Australian Dollars and all values have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($000) unless otherwise stated.

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs, modified 
by the revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for which the 
fair value basis of accounting has been applied.

As shown in the Statement of Financial Position, the Club is in a net current liability position of $2.6M 
as of 31 July, 2018 (2017: $4.1M).  Notwithstanding this current deficiency, the financial report has been 
prepared on a going concern basis as the Club is confident it will generate positive cash flows from 
future operations and the Committee believes cash generated from these operations and funds available 
under existing undrawn facilities will be sufficient to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

Changes to Accounting Policies

The Club adopted new and amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations which 
came into effect during the year ended 31 July 2018. 

Adoption of these standards did not have a significant impact on the financial statements or 
performance of the Club. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018
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Australian Accounting Standards recently issued or amended but not yet effective

New standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board which are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning after 1 August, 2018 include:

•	 AASB 2016-2 - Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 107 (effective 1 August 2018)

•	 AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and relevant amending standards (effective 1 August 
2019)

•	 AASB 16 Leases (effective 1 August 2019)

•	 AASB 9 Financial Instruments, and relevant amending standards (effective 1 August 2018)

•	 AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (effective 1 August 2019)

•	 AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for 
Not-For-Profit Entities (effective 1 August 2019)

•	 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (effective 1 August 2020)

Apart from AASB 9, which has been assessed in detail below, the Club is currently assessing the impact of 
these standards but do not expect the new standards to have a material impact on the financial statements.

Classification and measurement

On adoption of AASB 9, financial assets must be classified as subsequently measured at either amortised 
cost or fair value, depending on the assets’ contractual cash flow characteristics. Due to the fact that the 
RSN shares are not held for trading, MVRC has elected to irrevocably present gains and losses on this equity 
investment in OCI from 1 August 2018.

Equity instruments at FVOCI will not have any recycling of gains or losses to profit or loss on de-recognition. 
Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment under AASB 9. Under AASB 139, 
MVRC’s unquoted equity instruments in RSN were classified as AFS financial assets.

There will be no changes in classification or measurement of any other financial assets or financial liabilities.

There will be no impact on the statement of comprehensive income or the statement of changes in equity on 
adoption of AASB 9 in relation to classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Impairment

The adoption of AASB 9 will fundamentally change MVRC’s approach to accounting for impairment losses for 
financial assets by replacing AASB 139’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss 
(ECL) approach.  However, the end result will be consistent with how management assess bad debts currently.

For Trade and other receivables, MVRC will apply the standard’s simplified approach and will calculate ECLs 
based on lifetime expected credit losses. MVRC has established a provision matrix that is based on the 
Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and 
the economic environment.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018
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MVRC considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are more than 91 days past due and 
discussions have not yielded a solution, or there are other indicators that payment is unlikely to be received.

Management review each debtor individually, and only provide if there have been lengthy discussions with the 
debtor and/or credit collection agency, in which case a debtor is generally provided for in full.

The adoption of the ECL requirements of AASB 9 are not expected to have a material impact on the impairment 
allowances of the Company’s trade receivables, because the expectation of credit losses is always $nil, until a 
credit default event occurs (which is very rarely).

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents 
as defined above, net of any bank overdrafts.

As at 31 July, 2018 the Club had a $3,000,000 unsecured overdraft facility with the ANZ bank.  

(b) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts.  Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. A provision for impaired 
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be able to collect all amounts 
due to the original terms of the receivables. Financial difficulties of the debtor and default payments are 
considered objective evidence of impairment. Bad debts are written off when identified. 

(c) Investment in associates

The Club is of the opinion that its 25% investment in Thoroughbred Racing Productions (Vic) Pty Ltd represents 
a significant influence and as such the investment in this associate is accounted for under the equity method.

Under the equity accounting method:

•	 The initial investment is recorded at cost; 

•	 The investment is subsequently adjusted by the investor’s share of the associate’s change in net assets  
(i.e. profits and reserve movements after date of acquisition);

•	 The investor’s income statement reflects its share of the investee’s profit or loss for the same period.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018

(d) Financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets

The Club has classified its investments in RSN Racing & Sport (formerly Sport 927) and Racing.com as 
available-for-sale financial assets.

Available-for-sale financial assets are stated at fair value. Fair value is determined with reference to current 
or recent market transaction price, or in the absence of this, in accordance with generally accepted pricing 
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

For Available-for-sale financial investments, the Club assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

For Available-for-sale financial investments, the Club assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in the available-for-sale revaluation 
reserve, until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognised in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss for  
the period.

Loans 

Loans and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost less impairment.  

(e) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly 
attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities that are yield related are 
included as part of the carrying amount of the loans and borrowings.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Club has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (i.e. an 
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to prepare for its intended use or sale) are capitalised 
as part of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur.

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of 
funds. The Club does not currently hold qualifying assets but, if it did, the borrowing costs directly associated 
with this asset would be capitalised (including any other associated costs directly attributable to the borrowing 
and temporary investment income earned on the borrowing).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018

(f) Impairment

At each reporting date, the club reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment 
loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the club 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in 
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

(g) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

(h) Trade and other payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Club prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Club 
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

The Club has elected to use the cost model to measure the value of property, plant and equipment subsequent 
to initial recognition.  Under the cost model, the carrying amount of each item within the entire class of 
property, plant and equipment is its cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The exception to this cost model is for land assets where the Club has elected to adopt the revaluation method. 
Under the revaluation method land assets are carried at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each part of an item of 
property, plant and equipment. Assets costing less than $1,000 are written off in the financial year of purchase. 
Freehold land is not depreciated.

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

•	 Buildings			   30-50 years

•	 Plant and equipment	 3-20 years

Costs incurred in relation to the securing of planning permission for the Club’s Master Plan project are 
capitalised in accordance with AASB 116 – Property, Plant and Equipment, when it is probable that economic 
benefits will flow to the Club in the future. 

(j) Leases

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance 
of the agreement, so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating Leases

The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains all of the risks and 
benefits of ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense to profit or loss on a straight-line basis.

Finance Leases

Leases that effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased 
item to the Club are capitalised at the present value of minimum lease payments and disclosed as property, 
plant and equipment under lease. A lease liability of equal value is also recognised, and is determined in 
accordance with AASB 117: Leases. Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated 
useful life of the assets and the lease term. Minimum lease payments are allocated between interest expense 
and the reduction of the lease liability, with the interest expense calculated using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease, and recognised directly in net profit.

(k) Income tax

The Club is exempt from income tax under Section 50–45 item 9.1(a) of the Income Tax Assessment Act (1997) 
as amended.

(l) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the entity and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is not recognised until control of the goods has passed to the buyer 
or services have been completed.

ANNUAL REPORT   44



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018

(m) Contributions & Grants

Contributions and grants received during the year are recognised as income when it is probable that economic 
benefits will flow to the Club and the amount can be measured reliably.  Income is not recognised until the Club 
obtains control or the right to receive the contribution or grants.

(n) Provisions and employee benefits

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Club has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Club expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, 
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 
The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive income net of any 
reimbursement.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. The discount rate used to determine the present value 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The 
increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised in finance costs.

Employee benefits

(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave 
expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services 
up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured 
at the rates paid or payable.  Annual leave entitlements expected to be settled after the next 12 months are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and 
currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(ii) Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected 
unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018

(o) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for intangible assets are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful 
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered 
to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 
estimates.

(p) Goods and services tax

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

•	 where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expenditure; or

•	 for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST; or

•	 for expenditure commitments which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 
an operating cash flow.

(q) Key Management Personnel

For the purposes of AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures, Key Management Personnel are defined as the Chief 
Executive and all Senior Managers.

(r) Comparative amounts

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to accord with the current year’s presentation. The 
reclassification of comparative amounts has not resulted in a change to the aggregate amounts of Current 
Assets, Non-Current Assets, Current Liabilities, Non-Current Liabilities or Equity, or the Net Loss of the Club 
as reported in the prior year financial report.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018

3.	 MVRC MASTER PLAN

On 21 November, 2017 the Club entered into a development agreement with Hamton Hostplus JVMV Pty 
Ltd (a consortium comprised of Hostplus, ISPT as the investment manager for Hostplus and the Hamton 
Property Group – the “joint venture”) for the re-development of the property owned by the Club into a 
residential, commercial and community focussed facility.

This agreement was the culmination of many years of planning and has required a significant investment 
by the Club to get the project to this stage.  As part of the development agreement the Club received an 
initial payment of $5,000,000 from the joint venture during the year which has been recognised as Other 
income.

The Club has provided security over a portion of its freehold land to facilitate the required project financing 
by the joint venture.

Other Income

Other income per Statement of Comprehensive Income is comprised of:

 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

Masterplan - joint venture payment 5,000 -
Other 681 191

5,681 191
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4.	 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On 31 July, 2018 MVRC acquired 100% ownership of the Leighoak Club, a licensed Club located in 
the suburb of Oakleigh.  In exchange for the purchase consideration, the MVRC received use of the 
business name, a long-term leasehold agreement over the property, the transfer of the gaming machine 
entitlements (GMEs) for the 92 machines held at the venue, and the plant and equipment associated with 
the operation.

During July/August 2017 the Victorian Government announced new gaming machine arrangements that 
will exist following the expiration of the current regime (August, 2022).  These announcements provided 
operators with a degree of certainty around the gaming environment for the period 2022 to 2042.  In 
light of these announcements the MVRC sees the acquisition of the Leighoak venue as a key, long term 
investment and a means of further diversifying its revenue streams.

In accordance with AASB3 Business Combinations the acquisition has been measured at fair value.

Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

The preliminary fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Leighoak Club as at the date of 
acquisition were:

Fair value 
recognised on 

acquisition
$000

Assets

Fixed Assets (i) 1,950

Cash floats 166

Inventories 27

Prepaid and other expenses 101

2,244

Liabilities

Gaming jackpot liability (146)

Employee leave benefits (33)

Other accruals and expense adjustments (51)

(230)

Total identifiable net assets acquired at fair value 2,014

Gaming machine entitlements/licences (ii) 8,700
Total intangible assets acquired 8,700
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There was no goodwill recognised on acquisition.

(i)  �A valuation of fixed assets acquired was performed by W.E. Valuations, an accredited, independent 
valuer who has extensive experience in the licenced club/hotel and gaming venue industry.

(ii)  �The value attributed to gaming machine entitlements is calculated as the net present value of expected 
profits generated by the gaming machines.

5.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

The trade debtors balance as at 31 July, 2017 included a $2,200,000 (including GST) receivable from Racing 
Victoria Limited (RVL), which was subsequently received in September, 2017. 

Trade debtors are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. A provision for impairment loss 
is recognised where there is objective evidence that an individual trade debtor is impaired.  

The ageing analysis of trade debtors was as follows:

Other balances within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due.  
It is expected that these other balances will be received when due.

Due to the short-term nature of those receivables classified as current, their carrying value is assumed to 
approximate their fair value. 

The Club’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. Collateral is not held as 
security, nor is it the Club’s policy to transfer or on-sell receivables to special purpose entities.

 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

Current
Trade debtors 165 2,473
less provision for impairment loss - -

165 2,473
Sundry debtors 1,472 641

1,637 3,114

 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

Not yet due 138 97
0-30 days past due - not impaired 21 2,321
31-60 days past due - not impaired - 31
+61 days - not impaired 6 24
+61 days - considered impaired - -

Total 165 2,473
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6.	 PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Construction 
Works in 
Progress

Freehold  
Land

Buildings and 
Infrastructure

Plant and 
Equipment Artworks Totals

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Cost
Balance at 1 August 2016 931 156,927 44,456 30,673 354 233,341
Additions 1,676 312 - 399 - 2,387
Transfers (1,014) - - 1,014 - -
Disposals/scrapped  - - - (108) - (108)

Balance at 31 July 2017 1,593 157,239 44,456 31,978 354 235,620

Balance at 1 August 2017 1,593 157,239 44,456 31,978 354 235,620
Additions 4,276 - 350 1,600 - 6,226
Transfers (1837) 20 - 1,817 - -
Revaluation of land  - 29,640 - -  - 29,640
Disposals/scrapped  - - (60) (1,462)  - (1,522)

Balance at 31 July 2018 4,032 186,899 44,746 33,933 354 269,964

Depreciation
Balance at 1 August 2016  -  - 17,858 20,689 286 38,833
Depreciation/Amortisation  -  - 1,196 1,904 14 3,114
Disposals/scrapped - - - (86) - (86)

Balance at 31 July 2017 - - 19,054 22,507 300 41,861

Balance at 1 August 2017 - - 19,054 22,507 300 41,861
Depreciation/Amortisation - - 1,171 1,914 14 3,099
Disposals/scrapped - - (47) (1,178) - (1,225)

Balance at 31 July 2018 - - 20,178 23,243 314 43,735

Net Carrying Amount

As at 31 July 2017 1,593 157,239 25,402 9,471 54 193,759

As at 31 July 2018 4,032 186,899 24,568 10,690 40 226,229

Revaluation of land

Based on an independent valuation commissioned by the joint venture partner the Club has made a 
management assessment that there has been an increase in fair value of the land owned by the Club.

Fair value measurement disclosures for land valuations are provided in Note 2(i).
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7.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Gaming 
Machine 
Licences

Goodwill Totals

$000 $000 $000

Cost

Balance at 1 August, 2016 1,738 - 1,738
Additions - - -
Acquisition 2,499 300 2,799

Balance at 31 July, 2017 4,237 300 4,537

Balance at 1 August, 2017 4,237 300 4,537
Additions - - -
Acquisition 8,700 0 8,700

Balance at 31 July, 2018 12,937 300 13,237

Amortisation and impairment

Balance at 1 August, 2016 684 - 684
Amortisation 274 - 274
Impairment - - -

Balance at 31 July, 2017 958 - 958

Balance at 1 August, 2017 958 - 958
Amortisation 647 - 647
Impairment - - -

Balance at 31 July, 2018 1,605 - 1,605

Net Carrying Amount

As at 31 July 2017 3,279 300 3,579

As at 31 July 2018 11,332 300 11,632

At balance date the Club holds the following gaming machine entitlements (GMEs):

Entitlements  
held

Venue

Legends 105

Junction Club 80

Leighoak Club (acquired 31 July 2018) 92

277

All GMEs held by the Club will be valid until August, 2022.
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Subsequent to balance date the Club has received confirmation from the Victorian government in relation 
to entitlements for the 2022 – 2032 period.  Deposits for these entitlements were paid in February, 2018. 

At 31 July, 2017 the Club had one quarterly instalment of $79,250 remaining to complete the deferred 
purchase of the GMEs at Legends. This amount was paid in August 2017. There are no outstanding 
instalments for the purchase of GMEs owned by the Club.

The intangible asset held for the GMEs at Legends was initially recorded at the present value of the future 
licence payments and subsequently amortised over its useful life.

The intangible asset held for the GMEs at The Junction Club was recorded at the present value of expected 
profits generated by the gaming machines acquired in May, 2017.  This will subsequently be amortised 
over its useful life.

Acquisitions

The valuation methodology for the GME licences acquired at the Leighoak Club is disclosed in Note 4 (ii). 
The entitlements will be amortised over their useful life.

Goodwill

The goodwill recorded was purchased via the acquisition of The Junction Club in May, 2017.  Given the 
financial performance of The Junction Club during the current financial year, the Club has assessed the 
goodwill for impairment and considers there to be no impairment as at 31 July, 2018.

8.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

As at 31 July, 2016 the Club had a 16.67% interest in Australian Prices’ Network (APN).  The business 
ceased providing services during the year ended 31 July, 2017, accordingly the Club wrote-off its 
investment in APN during the financial year ended 31 July, 2017.

 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

Investments in associates - APN

Movement in associates - APN
Equity accounted amount of investment at the beginning of the financial year - 176
Share of profit from ordinary activities - -
Cash distribution received - (159)
Writedown - (17)

Equity accounted amount of investment at the end of the financial year - -
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The Club has a 25% interest in Thoroughbred Racing Productions (Vic) Pty Ltd (TRP). The principal activity 
of TRP is the provision of outside broadcasting services to Victorian racing clubs.  

The activities of TRP are conducted via the Victorian Thoroughbred Outside Broadcasting (VTOB) Fixed 
Trust, with TRP the responsible entity.  Under the trust deed of the VTOB Fixed Trust, the Club is entitled to 
receive income distributions from the fixed trust. 

Although income distributions have been declared from the VTOB Fixed Trust, the Club has agreed to leave 
these funds in the business in order to fund ongoing operations. A Loan Facility Deed has been signed by 
the Club for the value of these distributions. As such, the Club’s share of distributable income is effectively 
reflected as a loan – refer Note 9 – Financial Assets.

As at 30 June, 2018 TRP reported a net asset position of $100.  The investment in the Club’s accounts as at 
31 July, 2018 will therefore be recognised at $25.

2018 2017

$000 $000

Investments in associates – TRP

Movement in investments in TRP

Equity accounted amount of investment at the beginning of the financial year - -
Share of profit from ordinary activities 850 609
Distribution of income receivable (850) (609)

Equity accounted amount of investment at the end of the financial year - -

Movement in receivables from TRP

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 2,662 2,060
Adjustment to prior year receivables - (7)
Distribution of income receivable 850 609

Balance at the end of the financial year 3,511 2,662

Summarised financial information – TRP

Financial position
Total assets 15,166 11,693
Total liabilities (#) 15,166 11,693
Net assets - -
# includes total income distributable to beneficiaries 14,045 10,647
MVRC share of income distributable to beneficiaries 3,511 2,662

Financial performance
Total revenue 11,824 11,910
Total profit for year 3,398 2,437

(*) Note: TRP financial year ends on 30 June, 2018.
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9.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS

 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

Current

Thoroughbred Racing Productions (i) 3,551 2,662

3,551 2,662

Non-current

Available-for-sale financial assets
Investment in RSN Racing & Sport (ii) 820 1,076
Investment in Racing.com (iii) - 666

820 1,742

(i) Monies receivable from TRP (representing the Club’s share of income distributable from the VTOB Fixed 
Trust) are classified as a financial asset in accordance with the Loan Trust Deed signed by the Club.  Funds 
are non-interest bearing and are repayable at call.  Movements in the receivable balance are disclosed in 
Note 8.

Available-for-sale investments consist of unlisted ordinary shares and therefore have no fixed maturity 
date or coupon rate.

(ii) As at 31 July, 2017 the investment in RSN Racing & Sport was inclusive of a revaluation of radio 
licences held by the station performed in 2010.  In the absence of current valuations and in accordance 
with Note 2(d), the Club has elected to book a fair value adjustment and write down the investment to its 
share of net assets.

(iii) Racing.com continues to report net losses and a decline in its net asset position.  Accordingly, the Club 
elected to impair the investment in Racing.com during the financial year.

The fair value of the unlisted available-for-sale financial assets has been estimated using valuation 
techniques based on the assumptions outlined in Note 2(d). In some cases these techniques are not 
supported by observable market prices or rates. Management believes the estimated fair values reflected 
in the Statement of Financial Position are reasonable and appropriate, and that changing any of the 
assumptions to a reasonably possible alternative would not result in a significantly different value.
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 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

Current

Trade Payables 1,406 1,587
Sundry creditors 2,368 1,891

3,774 3,478

Trade creditors are non interest-bearing and are subject to payment terms of between 7 and 30 days.  
Due to the short term nature of these payables their carrying value is assumed to approximate fair value. 

11.	 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Interest Rate Maturity 2018 2017

$000 $000

Current interest bearings loans and borrowings

Obligations under finance lease contracts 4.65% 13 Jan, 2022 66 63
Bank overdraft BBSW + 0.0 On demand - 640

$3,200,000 bank loan - 3,200
$1,800,000 bank loan (also see below) BBSW + 0.0 31 Oct, 2035 100 75
$10,650,000 bank loan (also see below) BBSW + 0.0 30 Apr, 2029 1,000 -

1,166 3,978

Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Obligation under finance lease contracts 4.65% 13 Jan, 2022 234 300
$1,800,000 bank loan (also see above) BBSW + 0.0 31 Oct, 2035 1,625 1,725
$10,650,000 bank loan (also see above) BBSW + 0.0 30 Apr, 2029 9,650 -

11,509 2,025

Total interest bearing loans and borrowings 12,675 6,003

Finance lease contracts

Finance lease arrangement were entered into to fund the purchase of track maintenance equipment.  The 
lease has a 5 year term that expires in January, 2022.

Bank Loans

The $3,200,000 loan was repaid in January, 2018.

The $1,800,000 loan is repayable at $25,000 per quarter.  The $10,650,000 loan is repayable at $250,000 
per quarter with the first payment due 31 October, 2018.  

These loans are secured via a general security agreement over the Club’s assets and a mortgage over the 
lease of The Junction Club.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018
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12.	 ADVANCED FEES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS

2018 2017
$000 $000 

Membership, dining and sponsor prepayments 4,487 3,675

4,487 3,675

13.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

Current

Provision for annual leave 477 442

Provision for long service leave 835 725

1,312 1,167

Non-current
Provision for long service leave 334 325

334 325

14.	 STATE OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of operating surplus/(deficit) to the net cash flows from operating activities

 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

Operating surplus/ (deficit) 2,481 (1,070)

Add/(deduct)
 - Total depreciation & amortisation 3,746 3,389
 - Loss/(Profit) on disposal of property, plant & equipment 271 (55)
 - Other non cash items (26) (550)

Changes in asset and liability balances
 (Increase)/decrease in receivables 1,477 (1,594)
 (Increase)/decrease in prepayments (96) (137)
 (Increase)/decrease in inventories (128) (24)
 Increase/(decrease) in fees in advance 812 842
 Increase/(decrease) in payables 375 242

Net cash flow from operating activities 8,912 1,043
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15.	 EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

(i) Gaming machine license commitments
 - payable not later than one year - 79
 - payable later than one year and not later than five years 206 -

(ii) Gaming related expenditure commitments
 - payable not later than one year 1,658 1,528
 - payable later than one year and not later than five years 6,741 6,113

(iii) Other operational related expenditure commitments
 - payable not later than one year 2,025 1,640
 - payable later than one year and not later than five years 7,308 2,088

Aggregated Commitments 17,937 11,448

(i) Amounts shown as payable not later than one year includes the final instalment for gaming machine 
entitlements purchased at the Legends gaming venue for the current gaming regime which expires in 
2022 – this amount was paid in August, 2017 (see Note 7).  Amounts shown as payable later than one year 
and not later than five years includes deposit instalments for gaming machine entitlements for the period 
2022 – 2032.

 (ii) As a gaming venue operator the Club enters into a number of contracts with external suppliers to 
facilitate ongoing gaming operational requirements.  The increase in the 2018 year is primarily due to 
gaming support contracts acquired as part of the purchase of the Leighoak Club (see Note 4).

(iii) As part of its normal day-to-day operations the Club enters into various contracts for the supply of 
goods & services.  Contracts range from one to five years.  Contracts with variable payments terms are 
not included in the commitments disclosed above.  The substantial increase in the 2018 year is primarily 
due to rental commitments relating to the Leighoak Club (see Note 4).

Finance lease commitments

The Club has taken out finances leases for various items of track maintenance machinery.  The Club’s 
obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets.  Future minimum 
lease payments, together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments, are as follows: 

2018 2017

Minimum 
payments

Present value 
of payments

Minimum 
payments

Present value 
of payments

$000 $000 $000 $000

Payable no later than one year 79 66 79 63
Payable later than one year and not later than five years 251 234 330 300
Total minimum leave payments 330 300 409 363
Less amounts representing finance charges (30) - (46) -

Present value of minimum lease payments 300 300 363 363
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16.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Risk Management Policies

The Club has a formal investment policy which outlines acceptable investment vehicles.

It is the policy of the Club not to enter into transactions that require the exchange of either foreign 
currency or interest rates in relation to future commitments.

The Club does not speculate in the trading of derivative assets.

The Club has adopted the policy of dealing only with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient 
collateral or security where appropriate as a means of mitigating the risk of financial losses from defaults.

Accounting Policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, 
the basis of measurement, and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect 
to each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument, are disclosed in Note 2 to the 
financial report.

Interest rate risk

Cash balances are invested in a cash management account on a daily basis. The interest rate on this 
account is variable (2018: 0.4%; 2017: 1.15%). 

At balance date, the Club had the following mix of assets and liabilities exposed to Australian variable 
interest rate risk that are not designated in cash flow hedges:

 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

Financial Assets
 Cash and cash equivalents 1,417 382

1,417 382

Financial Liabilities
  Bank overdraft  - 640

  Borrowings 12,675 5,000

12,675 5,640

Net Exposure (11,258) (5,258)
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Management has conducted sensitivity analysis based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence 
at balance date. With all other variables held constant, operating profit would have been affected by the 
following amounts had interest rates moved by levels considered reasonably possible:

Interest Rate Movement Impact on Profit
 2018 2017

$000s $000s

(1.0%) 110 46

+1.0% (110) (46)

A change in interest rates would not have a material impact on the Club’s equity.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Club, which comprise cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and other receivables, loans, listed securities and the granting of financial 
guarantees. The Club’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counterparty, 
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of the financial assets (as outlined in 
each applicable note).

The Club does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure.

The Club trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, and as such collateral is not 
requested nor is it the Club’s policy to securitise its trade and other receivables.

The Club minimises concentration of credit risk in relation to trade receivables by undertaking 
transactions with a large number of customers across a range of industries. Credit risk in trade 
receivables is managed by formal risk assessment for new customers and formal monitoring of 
receivable balances by management on a monthly basis. The Club’s experience of bad debts has 
not been significant.

The Club does not have any significant exposure to any single counterparty or group of 
counterparties. 

The credit quality of the Club is assessed and monitored as follows:
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Equivalent S&P rating (i) Internally rated (ii)

BBB+ and 
above

BBB and 
below

New 
customers

Closely 
monitored 
customers

No default 
customers Total ($000's)

Year ended 31 July 2018

Current financial assets
  Cash and cash equivalents 1,417 - - - - 1,417
  Trade and other receivables - - - - 1,637 1,637
  Loans - - - - 3,511 3,511

Current financial liabilities
  Borrowings (1,100) - - - - (1,100)

317 - - - 5,148 5,465

Non-current financial assets
  Loans - - - - - -

Non-current financial 
liabilities

  Borrowings (11,275) - - - - (11,275)

(11,275) - - - - (11,275)

Year ended 31 July 2017

Current financial assets
  Cash and cash equivalents 382 - - - - 382
  Trade and other receivables - - - - 3,114 3,114
  Loans - - - - 2,662 2,662

Current financial liabilities

  Borrowings (3,275) - - - - (3,275)

(2,893) - - - 5,776 2,883

Non-current financial assets
  Loans - - - - - -

Non-current financial liabilities

 Borrowings (1,725) - - - - (1,725)

(1,725) - - - - (1,725)

 (i) The equivalent S&P rating of the financial asset represents the rating of the counterparty with 
whom the financial asset is held rather than the rating of the financial asset itself.

(ii) New customers are counterparties with whom the Club has traded for less than one year. 
No default customers are customers with whom the Club has traded for greater than one year 
and have no history of default, late payments, renegotiated terms or breach of their credit terms 
within the past two years. Closely monitored customers are customers with whom the Group has 
traded and do not qualify as no default customers.
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Currency Risk

The Club does not have exposure to financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign 
currency and as such is not exposed to any currency risk.

Price Risk

The Club’s exposure to commodity and equity securities price risk is not considered to be 
material in terms of a possible impact on profit and loss or total equity, and as such a sensitivity 
analysis has not been completed. 

Liquidity Risk

The Club’s objective is to maintain an appropriate level of funding through the use of bank 
overdrafts or loans. The Club has access to sufficient funding which are utilised when the needs 
arise. The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Club’s financial liabilities based on 
contractual undiscounted payments.

Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on management’s expectation.

The risk implied from the values shown in the table below reflects a balanced view of the Club’s 
cash inflows and outflows. Trade payables and other financial liabilities mainly originate from 
the financing of assets used in the Club’s ongoing operations such as property, plant, equipment 
and investments in working capital, e.g. inventories and trade receivables. These assets are 
considered when assessing the Club’s overall liquidity risk. The Club monitors the expected 
settlement of financial assets and liabilities on an ongoing basis. 

 <6  
months 

 6–12  
months 

 1–5 
 years 

 >5 
 years  Total 

 $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 

Financial Assets

  Cash and cash equivalents 1,417 - - - 1,417
  Trade & other receivables 1,637 - - - 1,637
  Loan receivables - 3,511 - - 3,511

3,054 3,511 - - 6,565

Financial Liabilities
  Trade & other payables 3,774 - - - 3,774
  Interest-bearing loans 716 710 5,240 7,533 14,198

4,490 710 5,240 7,533 17,972

Net Maturity (1,436) 2,801 (5,240) (7,533) (11,407)

61   ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2018

17.	 FAIR VALUE

The Club uses various methods in estimating the fair value of assets and liabilities. The methods comprise:

Level 1 – the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets.

Level 2 – the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Level 3 – the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data.

Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities of the Club are as follows.

Year ended 31 July 2018 ($000’s) Year ended 31 July 2017 ($000’s)

Quoted 
market 

price  
(Level 1)

Valuation 
technique 
– market 

observable 
inputs  

(Level 2)

Valuation 
technique – 
non market 
observable 

inputs  
(Level 3) Total

Quoted 
market 

price  
(Level 1)

Valuation 
technique 
– market 

observable 
inputs  

(Level 2)

Valuation 
technique – 
non market 
observable 

inputs  
(Level 3) Total

Available for sale investments 
  Unlisted investments

 
 
-

 
 
-

 
 

820

 
 

820

 
 
-

 
 
-

 
 

1,742

 
 

1,742

Revalued property,  
plant and equipment 
  Freehold land

 
 
 
-

 
 
 
-

 
 
 

186,899

 
 
 

186,899

 
 
 
-

 
 
 
-

 
 
 

157, 239

 
 
 

157, 239

- - 187,719 187,719 - - 158,981 158,981

Quoted market price represents the fair value determined based on quoted prices on active markets 
as at the reporting date without any deduction for transaction costs. The fair value of the listed income 
securities investments are based on quoted market prices.

For financial instruments not quoted in active markets, the Club uses valuation techniques such as 
present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist 
and other relevant models used by market participants. These valuation techniques use both observable 
and unobservable market inputs. 

Transfer between categories

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

18.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Club does not hold any contingent liabilities.
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19.	 AUDITORS REMUNERATION

 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

Amounts received or due and receivable by the Auditors of the Club for 
– audit of the financial report

 
67,000 

 
65,500 

Other services in relation to the Club: 
– audit of Community Benefit Statement

  
2,000 

  
2,000 

 69,000  67,500 

20.	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The following parties are considered to be related parties of the Club:

•	 Members of the Committee who held office during the year ended 31 July, 2018, being:
	 - Mr D C Casboult – Chairman
	 - Mr D H Kobritz - Vice Chairman
	 - Mr J L Blight - Treasurer
	 - Mr P J Blunden
	 - Mr D Sinn
	 - Mr A C Lennen
	 - Ms Su-Ann Khaw
	 - Mr A Durakovic (appointed 25 September, 2017)
	 - Mr J Hogan (appointed 31 July, 2018)
	 - Mr B G Kruger – former Vice Chairman (resigned 30 August, 2017)
	 - Mr M J Browell – by virtue of his office as Chief Executive 
•	� Radio 3UZ Unit Trust, which is the beneficial owner of 3UZ Pty Ltd and operator of radio 

station RSN Racing & Sport (formerly Sport 927), in which the Club has a 10.72% interest.
•	� Victorian Thoroughbred Outside Broadcasting (VTOB) Fixed Trust, whose responsible entity 

is Thoroughbred Racing Productions (Vic) Pty Ltd, in which the Club has a 25% interest. 
•	 Racing.com, in which the Club has a 20% interest.
•	� Moonee Valley Racing Club Investments Pty Ltd (non-trading) in which the Club has a 100% 

interest.

All members of the Committee act in an honorary capacity and receive no remuneration for their 
services.

During the financial year members of the Committee conducted limited financial transactions with 
the Club. All of these transactions were on normal commercial terms and conditions.

During the financial year the Club paid Directors and Officers Liability insurance premiums on 
behalf of the Committee and Officers of the Club.
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Key management personnel compensation 

Key management personnel compensation, included in the income statement and balance sheet of the 
Club, is as follows:

 2018 2017
 $000  $000 

Short-term employee benefits 2,063 1,723

Long-term benefits 32 39

Post-employment benefits* 143 135

2,238 1,897

*Consists primarily of statutory superannuation contributions.

21.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Club operates in the thoroughbred horse racing industry. All of the Club’s operations are undertaken 
within Australia.

22.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Gaming Machine Entitlements

Subsequent to balance date the Club has received confirmation from the Victorian government in relation to 
entitlements for the 2022 – 2032 period.  Deposits for these entitlements were paid in February, 2018.
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Independent  auditor ’s report  to the members of Moonee Valley Racing
Club, Inc

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial report  of Moonee Valley Racing Club, Inc (“ the Club” ), which
comprises the statement of f inancial position as at 31 July 2018, the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash f lows for the year then ended, notes
comprising a summary of significant  account ing policies and other explanatory information and the
committee’s declarat ion.

In our opinion the financial report  presents fair ly, in all material respects the financial position of Moonee
Valley Racing Club, Inc at 31 July 2018 and of its f inancial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Associat ions Incorporations
Reform Act 2012.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Aust ralian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilit ies under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilit ies for the Audit  of the Financial
Report sect ion of our report . We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical
requirements of the Account ing Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit  of the financial report  in Australia. We
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilit ies in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit  evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Responsibilit ies of the Commit tee for the Financial Report

The Club’s committee is responsible for the preparat ion and fair presentat ion of the financial report  in
accordance with Australian Account ing Standards and the Associations Incorporations Reform Act  2012
and for such internal control as the committee determines is necessary to enable the preparat ion and fair
presentat ion of the financial report  that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial report , the committee is responsible for assessing the Club’s ability to cont inue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the committee either intend to liquidate the Club or to cease
operat ions, or have no realist ic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor 's Responsibilit ies for t he Audit  of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report  as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report  that  includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but  is not  a guarantee that  an audit
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to inf luence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of this financial report .

A further description of our responsibilit ies for the audit  of the financial report  is located at the Auditing
and Assurance Standards Board website at : http:/ /www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ ar3.pdf. This
descript ion forms part  of our auditor’s report .

Ernst & Young
Melbourne
25 September 2018
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